Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-21-2018

State v. Pagan-Lopez Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45269

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Carlos Pagan-Lopez appeals from his judgment of conviction for two drug-related offenses. These charges arose from a traffic stop and Mr. Pagan-Lopez's subsequent arrest. At the jail, law enforcement found methamphetamine in his sock. Based on this methamphetamine, the State charged him with possession of a controlled substance and introduction of major contraband into the jail. Mr. Pagan-Lopez moved to suppress the evidence because the officers lacked reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop and their discovery of an arrest warrant did not purge the taint of the initial illegality. The district court denied the motion. Mr. Pagan-Lopez then tried to enter a guilty plea, pursuant to a plea agreement with the State, but the district court refused it. The district court reasoned that Mr. Pagan-Lopez had a viable affirmative defense—one which he knowingly and voluntarily desired to waive—and thus rejected his plea. At trial, the district court excluded Mr. Pagan-Lopez's proffered testimony about his mental health condition. The jury found him guilty of both offenses. Later, the district court awarded the State over \$900 in restitution for its alleged cost to prosecute Mr. Pagan-Lopez.

On appeal, Mr. Pagan-Lopez raises five issues. First, he argues the district court erred by denying his motion to suppress. Second, he asserts the district court abused its discretion by rejecting his guilty plea. Third, he contends his double jeopardy rights under the Idaho Constitution were violated because possession of a controlled substance was a lesser included offense of introduction of major contraband. Fourth, he submits the district court abused its discretion by excluding his layperson testimony about his mental health condition. Fifth, he asserts the district court abused its discretion by order him to pay restitution to the State for its

prosecution costs. Based on these errors, this Court should vacate his judgment of conviction and the district court's restitution order and remand this case.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

On December 2, 2016, Officer Feldner and another police officer conducted a traffic stop of Mr. Pagan-Lopez and his fiancé. (Tr. Vol. I, p.12, Ls.16–21, p.13, Ls.2–12.) The officers learned Mr. Pagan-Lopez had an active felony arrest warrant. (Tr. Vol. I, p.13, Ls.12–15.) Mr. Pagan-Lopez was arrested and taken to the Ada County Jail. (Tr. Vol. I, p.13, Ls.16–17.) During his booking search at the jail, law enforcement found a small baggie with methamphetamine tucked in his sock. (Tr. Vol. I, p.13, L.19–p.14, L.1.)

Based on this methamphetamine, the State alleged Mr. Pagan-Lopez committed two offenses: possession of a controlled substance (methamphetamine), in violation of I.C. § 37-2732(c), and introduction of major contraband (methamphetamine) into a correctional facility, in violation of I.C. § 18-2510(3). (R., pp.8–9.) The magistrate held a preliminary hearing and bound Mr. Pagan-Lopez over to district court. (R., pp.22–25; *see generally* Prelim. Hr'g Tr.¹) The State charged Mr. Pagan-Lopez with both offenses. (R., pp.31–32.) Mr. Pagan-Lopez entered a plea of not guilty. (R., p.35.)

Mr. Pagan-Lopez moved to suppress all evidence following the traffic stop and subsequent search at the jail. (R., pp.49, 50–53.) He argued the officers did not have reasonable suspicion to stop him and the officer's discovery of an arrest warrant was not sufficiently attenuated from the unlawful stop. (R., pp.50–53.) The State did not file a response. The district

¹ This transcript, admitted at the suppression motion hearing, will be cited separately as "Prelim. Hr'g Tr."

court held a hearing on the motion. (*See generally* Tr. Vol. I,² p.1, L.7–p.19, L.4.) At the hearing, the parties stipulated to the admission of the preliminary hearing transcript and two exhibits: a Google Earth overview of the residential area in question and an incident report. (Tr. Vol. I, p.1, L.23–p.2, L.3, p.2, L.14–p.3, L.15; *see also* Prelim. Hr’g Tr.; State’s Exs.1–2.³) The parties also stipulated to the fact that law enforcement was responding to a silent residential alarm at 2294 South Longmont Drive. (Tr. Vol. I, p.2, L.22–p.3, L.3, p.3, L.12–p.4, L.4.)

After further argument by the parties, the district court orally denied the motion. (Tr. Vol. I, p.12, L.12–p.18, L.23.) The district court found the following facts:

On December 2 of 2016, at, approximately, 5:02 o’clock a.m. Officers Feldner and Sontag were dispatched to a silent residential alarm on a laundry room door at 2294 South Longmont Drive, which sits at the very end of a dead-end street as depicted in Exhibit 1.

Officers observed that the house was on a short dead-end street and saw a white van at the stop sign preparing to exit the street. It was the only operating vehicle on the street. Officers observed that there wasn’t much traffic at all, and hadn’t seen very many other vehicles. The officers decided to perform a stop on the vehicle for suspicion of burglary. That stop occurred—it appears—between 5:11 o’clock and 5:14 o’clock a.m.

After stopping the car, officers observed there was a driver and a passenger in the vehicle. Officers began the identification of the driver at 5:14 o’clock by driver’s license. Officers began the identification of the passenger at 5:15 o’clock a.m. by the driver’s license. Officers identified the passenger as defendant Carlos Pagan-Lopez. Officers ran the occupants of the vehicle for wants and warrants and discovered at 5:21 o’clock that the defendant had an active felony warrant for his arrest.

It was at that time that Officer Feldner placed defendant under arrest and Officer Ellis transported him to the jail. At the jail, Officer Keber participated in booking the defendant. When Officer Keber searched the defendant, he

² There are two transcripts on appeal. The first, cited as Volume I, contains the motion to suppress hearing, entry of plea hearing, and trial. The second, cited as Volume II, contains the sentencing hearing.

³ The suppression motion exhibits and trial exhibits both have exhibits labeled State’s Exhibits 1 and 2. For ease of reference, the trial exhibits will be cited as “State’s Tr. Ex.” with the corresponding number.

discovered a small Ziploc Baggie that appeared to contain methamphetamine. At the intake room of the Ada County Jail, the baggie was on the defendant's left leg slightly above where his sock line was. The defendant removed it from that location and handed it to Officer Keber. That small Ziploc Baggie contained methamphetamine.

(Tr. Vol. I, p.12, L.16–p.14, L.1.) After finding these facts, the district court ruled that the officers had reasonable suspicion to conduct the traffic stop for their silent alarm investigation.

(Tr. Vol. I, p.16, L.13–p.18, L.6.) The district court also determined the detention was not any longer than necessary because, shortly after the stop, the officers learned of the active felony arrest warrant. (Tr. Vol. I, p.18, Ls.7–14.) Therefore, the district court held that the evidence gained as a result of the stop (the methamphetamine) was admissible and denied the motion.

(Tr. Vol. I, p.18, Ls.7–9, 15–23.)

Three days later, Mr. Pagan-Lopez informed the district court that he desired to enter a guilty plea pursuant to a plea agreement with the State. (Tr. Vol. I, p.24, L.6–p.25, L.2.) In exchange for Mr. Pagan-Lopez's guilty plea to possession of a controlled substance, the State agreed to dismiss the other charge of introduction of major contraband. (Tr. Vol. I, p.27, Ls.6–11.) The State agreed to recommend probation, with an underlying sentence of five years, with two years fixed. (Tr. Vol. I, p.27, Ls.11–16.) Mr. Pagan-Lopez's guilty plea would not be conditional, meaning that he would not reserve the right to appeal the district court's denial of his suppression motion. (Tr. Vol. I, p.26, L.24–p.27, L.4.) During the plea colloquy, Mr. Pagan-Lopez admitted to possession of a controlled substance, but also explained that he initially picked up the substance intending to throw it away. (Tr. Vol. I, p.34, Ls.4–24.) He said there were children around the area where he found it. (Tr. Vol. I, p.35, Ls.4–9.) He further explained that he put the substance in his sock and forgot about it. (Tr. Vol. I, p.34, L.25–p.35, L.9.) Due to these statements, the district court refused to accept Mr. Pagan-Lopez's guilty plea because the

district court believed he had a potential affirmative defense of necessity, which somehow invalidated his admission to committing the crime. (*See* Tr. Vol. I, p.35, L.10–p.37, L.22.) Consequently, Mr. Pagan-Lopez proceeded to trial.

At trial, the State called four witnesses. First, Officer Feldner testified that he arrested Mr. Pagan-Lopez per dispatch’s instruction after a traffic stop. (Tr. Vol. I, p.142, L.6–p.145, L.15.) This occurred early in the morning on December 2, 2016. (Tr. Vol. I, p.139, L.24–p.140, L.14.) During a search incident to arrest, Officer Feldner testified that he found a hypodermic needle in Mr. Pagan-Lopez’s pocket. (Tr. Vol. I, p.151, Ls.4–11.) Officer Feldner did not preserve the needle as evidence or cite Mr. Pagan-Lopez for possession of the needle. (Tr. Vol. I, p.151, L.25–p.152, L.25.) Officer Feldner explained that a different officer, Officer Ellis, transported Mr. Pagan-Lopez to the Ada County Jail. (Tr. Vol. I, p.146, Ls.21–25.) Next, Deputy Keber with the Ada County Jail testified that he searched Mr. Pagan-Lopez at the jail and found a small baggie with a crystal-like substance inside Mr. Pagan-Lopez’s sock “almost like it was maybe stuck to his leg.” (Tr. Vol. I, p.160, L.22–p.162, L.12.) Then, Deputy Ellis testified that he transported Mr. Pagan-Lopez to the jail and was present during Deputy Keber’s search and discovery of the baggie. (Tr. Vol. I, p.174, Ls.15–18, p.175, L.5–p.177, L.24; *see also* State’s Tr. Ex. 1 (baggie photograph).) Finally, Corinna Owsley with the Idaho State Police Forensic Services testified that the crystal substance in the baggie tested positive for methamphetamine. (Tr. Vol. I, p.190, L.19–p.191, L.15.) The State rested. (Tr. Vol. I, p.194, L.16.)

After the State rested, Mr. Pagan-Lopez informed the district court that he desired to testify in his defense. (Tr. Vol. I, p.195, L.6–p.198, L.15.) His trial counsel told the district court and the State that he intended to ask Mr. Pagan-Lopez about his memory problems and epilepsy. (Tr. Vol. I, p.198, Ls.20–23.) Mr. Pagan-Lopez suffered from short-term memory loss. (Tr. Vol.

I, p.201, Ls.8–10.) Trial counsel explained that this evidence was relevant as to why Mr. Pagan-Lopez failed to inform law enforcement about the baggie of methamphetamine in his sock. (Tr. Vol. I, p.199, Ls.6–14.) Trial counsel clarified that he did *not* intend to have Mr. Pagan-Lopez testify that he was not “capable of knowingly possession anything given his mental condition.” (Tr. Vol. I, p.201, Ls.5–8.) The State objected. (Tr. Vol. I, p.198, L.24–p.199, L.4, p.199, Ls.16–22.) The district court ruled that evidence was inadmissible because Mr. Pagan-Lopez failed to give the State notice. (Tr. Vol. I, p.199, L.23–p.201, L.4, p.201, Ls.14–20.)

Mr. Pagan-Lopez testified that, on December 1, 2016, he had gone to the Corpus Christi House with his fiancé to take a shower, get clothing, and check his mail. (Tr. Vol. I, p.205, L.6–p.207, L.9.) There are separate showers for men and women, but the showers are open and available to children. (Tr. Vol. I, p.207, Ls.10–16, p.208, Ls.20–23.) After he took a shower, Mr. Pagan-Lopez said he saw the baggie under a bench as he was getting dressed. (Tr. Vol. I, p.208, Ls.2–10.) He grabbed the baggie to give it to the Corpus Christi House director, but he forgot after his fiancé told him he had to go to a meeting. (Tr. Vol. I, p.208, Ls.10–17.) He testified that he put the baggie in his sock. (Tr. Vol. I, p.209, Ls.3–4.) Mr. Pagan-Lopez and his fiancé then left the Corpus Christi House, visited friends, did laundry, and went to a church dinner. (Tr. Vol. I, p.211, Ls.5–12.) He testified that he had forgotten about the baggie once he left the Corpus Christi House. (Tr. Vol. I, p.209, Ls.13–15.) By the early morning of December 2, Mr. Pagan-Lopez and his fiancé were driving around collecting aluminum cans to sell for gas money. (Tr. Vol. I, p.209, Ls.16–23.) He testified that he found a used syringe (which he also intended to dispose of) while looking for cans. (Tr. Vol. I, p.210, Ls.5–19.) After that, Mr. Pagan-Lopez and his fiancé continued to collect cans until the traffic stop by Office Feldner.

(Tr. Vol. I, p.211, Ls.1–6.) He explained that Officer Feldner searched him, found the syringe, and had him transported to the jail. (Tr. Vol. I, p.211, L.14–p.212, L.1.) At the jail, Mr. Pagan-Lopez testified that he was searched and the baggie in his sock was found. (Tr. Vol. I, p.212, Ls.6–18.) Mr. Pagan-Lopez testified that he did not remember the baggie until then. (Tr. Vol. I, p.211, Ls.7–10, p.212, Ls.2–3, 12–14.) After Mr. Pagan-Lopez’s testimony, the defense rested. (Tr. Vol. I, p.218, Ls.1–5.)

On rebuttal, the State recalled Officer Feldner. (Tr. Vol. I, p.231, Ls.1–16.) Officer Feldner testified that the syringe had a cap and looked new. (Tr. Vol. I, p.233, Ls.2–20; *see also* State’s Exs.3–4.) On cross-examination, Officer Feldner admitted that he characterized the syringe as used in his report, but then explained on redirect that that could be attributable to the absence of packaging and “just coming off of someone’s person.” (Tr. Vol. I, p.240, Ls.8–10, p.241, Ls.9–10.)

Both parties rested. (Tr. Vol. I, p.241, L.23–p.242, L.4.) In closing, the State argued Mr. Pagan-Lopez was guilty of both possession of a controlled substance and introduction of major contraband due to the baggie of methamphetamine found in his sock during the jail search. (*See generally* Tr. Vol. I, p.254, L.6–p.262, L.1.)

The jury found Mr. Pagan-Lopez guilty of both charges. (Tr. Vol. I, p.277, Ls.6–25; R., p.105.)

At the start of the sentencing hearing, the district court noted the State’s request for \$1,152.25 in restitution, including \$996.27 in drug prosecution costs. (Tr. Vol. I, p.4, Ls.4–17.) The State’s request consisted of a sworn “Certificate of Records” from an employee of the Ada County Prosecuting Attorney’s Office, who had access to payroll records. (R., pp.116–17.) The Certificate of Records identified the time spent by various attorneys on the case, but did not

identify the specific tasks, dates, or hourly rates. (R., pp.116–17.) Mr. Pagan-Lopez objected to the State’s request for its prosecution costs. (Tr. Vol. II, p.4, L.22–p.5, L.11.) He argued, among other things, the breakdown of attorney’s time spent on the case was not sufficient to award restitution. (Tr. Vol. II, p.5, Ls.7–11.) The parties then made their sentencing recommendations. (Tr. Vol. II, p.6, L.19–p.13, L.5.) The district court sentenced Mr. Pagan-Lopez to five years, with one year fixed, for possession of a controlled substance, and two and one-half years, with zero fixed years, for introduction of major contraband, to be served concurrently. (Tr. Vol. II, p.14, Ls.3–10; R., pp.109–12.) The district court also retained jurisdiction. (Tr. Vol. II, p.15, Ls.1–17; R., p.110.) As for restitution, the district court ordered the full amount requested by the State. (Tr. Vol. II, p.14, Ls.21–22; R., pp.114–15.) The district court did not provide any reasoning on the record regarding its restitution award. (*See* Tr. Vol. II, p.14, Ls.21–22.)

Mr. Pagan-Lopez timely appealed from the district court’s judgment of conviction. (R., pp.109–12, 118–19.)

ISSUES

- I. Did the district court err by denying Mr. Pagan-Lopez's motion to suppress?
- II. Did the district court abuse its discretion by rejecting Mr. Pagan-Lopez's guilty plea?
- III. Did Mr. Pagan-Lopez's convictions and punishments for possession of a controlled substance and introduction of contraband into the jail violate his right to be free from double jeopardy?
- IV. Did the district court abuse its discretion at trial by excluding Mr. Pagan-Lopez's layperson testimony of his mental health?
- V. Did the district court abuse its discretion by ordering Mr. Pagan-Lopez to pay restitution for the State's prosecution costs?

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Erred By Denying Mr. Pagan-Lopez's Motion To Suppress

A. Introduction

Mr. Pagan-Lopez asserts the district court should have granted his motion to suppress because the warrantless traffic stop violated his Fourth Amendment rights. This traffic stop was unlawful because the police officers did not have reasonable suspicion for the seizure. Moreover, the officers' discovery of an arrest warrant for Mr. Pagan-Lopez did not break the causal chain between the unlawful stop and the discovery of evidence on his person at the jail. Since the discovery of the arrest warrant was not a sufficient intervening circumstance, the exclusionary rule required suppression of the evidence obtained after the unlawful seizure.

B. Standard Of Review

The Court uses a bifurcated standard to review a district court's order on a motion to suppress. *State v. Danney*, 153 Idaho 405, 408 (2012); *see also State v. Hunter*, 156 Idaho 568, 571 (Ct. App. 2014) (same). The Court will accept the trial court's findings of fact "unless they are clearly erroneous." *State v. Wulff*, 157 Idaho 416, 418 (2014). "At a suppression hearing, the power to assess the credibility of witnesses, resolve factual conflicts, weigh evidence, and draw factual inferences is vested in the trial court." *State v. Ellis*, 155 Idaho 584, 587 (Ct. App. 2013). The Court exercises free review of "the trial court's application of constitutional principles to the facts found." *Danney*, 153 Idaho at 408. Determinations of reasonable suspicion are reviewed de novo. *State v. Morgan*, 154 Idaho 109, 111 (2013) (citing *State v. Munoz*, 149 Idaho 121, 127 (2010)).

C. The District Court Should Have Granted Mr. Pagan-Lopez’s Motion Because The Police Officers Did Not Have Reasonable Suspicion For The Traffic Stop And The Discovery Of Evidence Was Not Adequately Attenuated From The Unlawful Stop

“The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution protects citizens from unreasonable search and seizure.” *State v. Hansen*, 138 Idaho 791, 796 (2003). “Article I, Section 17 of the Idaho Constitution nearly identically guarantees that ‘[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated.’” *State v. Green*, 158 Idaho 884, 886 (2015) (alteration in original). A warrantless seizure is presumptively unreasonable, unless the State shows that the seizure fits within a well-established exception to the warrant requirement. *Green*, 158 Idaho at 886–87; *see also Halen v. State*, 136 Idaho 829, 833 (2002) (“When a warrantless search or seizure is challenged by the defendant, the State bears the burden to show that a recognized exception to the warrant requirement is applicable.”); *State v. Hunter*, 156 Idaho 568, 570 (Ct. App. 2014) (same). In this case, Mr. Pagan-Lopez first asserts the State failed to meet its burden to justify his warrantless seizure. Second, he argues the discovery of the arrest warrant was not an intervening circumstance that sufficiently purged the taint of his unlawful seizure.

1. There Was No Reasonable Suspicion To Justify The Traffic Stop

“Traffic stops constitute seizures under the Fourth Amendment.” *Morgan*, 154 Idaho at 112 (quoting *State v. Henage*, 143 Idaho 655, 658 (2007)). “Limited investigatory detentions are permissible when justified by an officer’s reasonable articulable suspicion that a person has committed, or is about to commit, a crime.” *Id.* “[T]ypically, seizures must be based on probable cause to be reasonable. However, limited investigatory detentions, based on less than probable cause, are permissible when justified by an officer’s reasonable articulable suspicion that a person has committed, or is about to commit, a crime.” *State v. Bly*, 159 Idaho 708, 710

(Ct. App. 2016) (internal citations omitted) (citing *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 498, 499–500 (1983) (plurality opinion)).

“Reasonable suspicion must be based on specific, articulable facts and the rational inferences that can be drawn from those facts.” *Morgan*, 154 Idaho at 112 (quoting *State v. Bishop*, 146 Idaho 804, 811 (2009)). “[A]n officer may take into account his experience and law enforcement training in drawing inferences from facts gathered,” *Danney*, 153 Idaho at 410, but “[t]he officer, of course, must be able to articulate something more than an ‘inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or ‘hunch.’” *United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989); *see also Morgan*, 154 Idaho at 112 (same). “The test for reasonable suspicion is based on the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at or before the time of the stop.” *Morgan*, 154 Idaho at 112.

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