Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-15-2018

State v. Pagan-Lopez Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45269

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

the attenuation doctrine does not allow "unjustified, suspicionless seizure of citizens," the attenuation doctrine was inapplicable in that case. <u>Id.</u> at 726, 404 P.3d 668.

Here, there was abundant suspicion and justification for the officer to stop Pagan-Lopez: Pagan-Lopez was an unidentified individual and the prime suspect in an ongoing investigation of a reported burglar alarm. He was the only person found at the area. (Tr. vol. I, p.12, Ls.22-25.) It was early in the morning, and Pagan-Lopez was driving away from the scene. (Tr. vol. I, p.12, Ls22-25.) Not only was there an ongoing bona fide investigation, but the officer had ample justification to detain Pagan-Lopez "to see if it was possibly related to that burglary alarm in any way." (Prelim. Hr'g Tr., p.12, Ls.17-19; p.13, Ls.5-10.) The officer eventually discovered that Pagan-Lopez "had an active felony warrant for his arrest." (Tr. vol. I, p.13, Ls.12-15.) Because this was nothing like an unjustified, suspicionless search, and because the active warrants were an intervening circumstance strongly favoring the state, the attenuation doctrine would apply here, and exclusion would be improper regardless of the propriety of the detention.

III. <u>Pagan-Lopez Has Failed To Show His Double Jeopardy Rights Under The Idaho</u> Constitution Were Violated And Failed To Show Fundamental Error

A. Introduction

Pagan-Lopez contends, for the first time on appeal, that his double jeopardy rights under the Idaho Constitution were violated because, "[u]nder the pleading theory, the charged offense of possession of a controlled substance was a lesser included offense of introduction of major contraband." (Appellant's brief, p.29.) Pagan-Lopez failed to raise this claim below, and fails to show that it constitutes fundamental error.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

Absent a timely objection, the appellate courts of this state will only review an alleged error under the fundamental error doctrine. <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, 226, 245 P.3d 961, 979 (2010).

Whether a defendant's prosecution complies with the constitutional protection against double jeopardy is a question of law subject to free review. <u>State v. Santana</u>, 135 Idaho 58, 63, 14 P.3d 378, 383 (Ct. App. 2000). The interpretation and application of a statute is also a question of law subject to de novo review. <u>State v. Jones</u>, 151 Idaho 943, 946, 265 P.3d 1155, 1158 (Ct. App. 2011).

C. <u>Pagan-Lopez Has Failed To Show That Possession Of A Controlled Substance Is</u> <u>A Lesser Included Offense Of Introduction Or Attempted Introduction Of Major</u> <u>Contraband</u>

Review under the fundamental error doctrine requires Pagan-Lopez to demonstrate the error he alleges: "(1) violates one or more of [his] unwaived constitutional rights; (2) plainly exists (without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision); and (3) was not harmless." <u>Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d at 980.

Pagan-Lopez argues his unwaived constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy was violated, contending that, under the facts of this case, possession of a controlled substance "was a lesser included offense of introduction of major contraband." (Appellant's brief, pp. 28-32.) "There are two theories under which a particular offense may be determined to be a lesser included of a charged offense." <u>State v. Sanchez-</u>

<u>Castro</u>, 157 Idaho 647, 648, 339 P.3d 372, 373 (2014) (quoting <u>State v. Curtis</u>, 130 Idaho 522, 524, 944 P.2d 119, 121 (1997)). Those theories are referred to as the statutory theory and the pleading theory. <u>Sanchez-Castro</u>, 157 Idaho at 648, 339 P.3d at 373 (citations omitted). Idaho appellate courts apply the <u>Blockburger³</u> test in analyzing whether an offense is an included offense under the statutory theory. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>State v.</u> <u>Flegel</u>, 151 Idaho 525, 527, 261 P.3d 519, 521 (2011)). Under this test, an offense is considered included in another offense "if all the elements required to sustain a conviction of the greater offense." <u>Flegel</u>, 151 Idaho at 527, 261 P.3d at 521 (quoting <u>State v. McCormick</u>, 100 Idaho 111, 114, 594 P.2d 149, 152 (1979)). However, on appeal, Pagan-Lopez only raises a claim under the pleading theory. (Appellant's brief, pp. 22-27.)

Idaho is among several jurisdictions which have utilized the "pleading theory" to determine whether the conviction and punishment for two offenses violates the double jeopardy clause of respective state constitutions. <u>State v. Sepulveda</u>, 161 Idaho 79, 87, 383 P.3d 1249, 1257 (2016); <u>see also State v. Corbus</u>, 151 Idaho 368, 372-375, 256 P.3d

³ <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

776, 780-84 (Ct. App. 2011).⁴ Under the pleading theory, a court must consider whether the terms of the charging document allege that both offenses arose from the same factual circumstance such that one offense was the means by which the other was committed. <u>Corbus</u>, 151 Idaho at 372-75, 256 P.3d at 780-84. Because the pleading theory relies on an examination of the charging Information, it generally provides a broader definition of greater and lesser included offenses than a statutory theory approach. <u>Id.</u> The pleading theory holds "that an offense is an included offense if it is alleged in the information [or indictment] as a means or element of the commission of the higher offense." <u>Sanchez-Castro</u>, 157 Idaho at 648, 339 P.3d at 373 (citing <u>Sivak v. State</u>, 112 Idaho 197, 211, 731 P.2d 192, 206 (1986)).

Pagan-Lopez argues that his "possession of a controlled substance was the means or manner by which he committed the offense of introduction of major contraband into a correctional facility." (Appellant's brief, p.31.) He contends that "both offenses are entirely based on the same factual predicate of law enforcement finding the baggie of methamphetamine in Mr. Pagan-Lopez's sock at the jail on December 2." (Appellant's 32.) Pagan-Lopez argues that because "his possession of the methamphetamine was necessary for him to introduce it into the jail," under the pleading theory, the "possession

⁴ In a post-<u>Corbus</u> case, the Idaho Court of Appeals determined that the Idaho Supreme Court's continued application of the "pleading theory" means that the "pleading theory" is the only theory to be applied when addressing a double jeopardy claim under the Idaho Constitution. <u>State v. Moad</u>, 156 Idaho 654, 658 n.3, 330 P.3d 400, 404 n.3 (Ct. App. 2014); <u>see also Sanchez-Castro</u>, 157 Idaho at 648-649, 339 P.3d at 373-374. This appears to have been affirmed by <u>Sepulveda</u>, where the Idaho Supreme Court only applied the pleading theory to the appellant's double jeopardy claim under the Idaho Constitution. 161 Idaho at 87-89, 383 P.3d at 1257-59. The state is unaware of the United States Supreme Court ever applying the pleading theory.

of a controlled substance was a lesser included offense of introduction of major contraband." (Appellant's brief, p.32.)

But under Idaho's pleading theory, whether one crime is a lesser included offense of another crime can be determined from the face of the record simply by reading the information charging each crime. <u>Sepulveda</u>, 161 Idaho at 88, 383 P.3d at 1258; <u>State v.</u> <u>McKinney</u>, 153 Idaho 837, 841, 291 P.3d 1036, 1040 (2013). And the face of the record does not show that, as pled, possession of a controlled substance is a lesser included offense of introduction or attempted introduction. The information, as amended, states:

COUNT I

That the defendant, CARLOS ENRIQUE PAGAN-LOPEZ, on or about the 2nd day of December, 2016, in the County of Ada, State of Idaho, did unlawfully possess a controlled substance, to-wit: Methamphetamine, a Schedule II controlled substance.

COUNT II

That the defendant, CARLOS ENRIQUE PAGAN-LOPEZ, on or about the 2nd day of December, 2016, did knowingly and unlawfully introduce and/or attempt to introduce major contraband to-wit: Methamphetamine, a Schedule II controlled substance into a correctional facility or the grounds of a correctional facility without permission of the facility head.

(R., p.32.)

From the face of the information, not all the elements of possession of a controlled substance are pled in the introduction and/or attempted introduction of major contraband charge; namely, the latter does not contain a *possession* element, while the former does. (R., p.32.) "Possession" and "introduction" are not synonyms; one can possess something without introducing (or attempting to introduce) it, and vice versa. By charging Pagan-Lopez with introducing and/or attempting to introduce major contraband under 18-2510(a)—as opposed to charging him with *possession* of major contraband,

which the state could have done under 18-2510(c)—the face of the information omitted the possession element. (See R., p.32.) Accordingly, the possession charge was not pled "as a means or element of the commission of the higher offense." See Sanchez-Castro, 157 Idaho at 648, 339 P.3d at 373.

This was exactly what occurred in <u>Sepulveda</u>, where the Idaho Supreme Court, applying the pleading theory, found that "[f]rom the face of the information, not all the elements of intimidating a witness are pled in the counts charging the attempted violations of the no contact order." 161 Idaho at 88, 383 P.3d at 1258. There, neither of the NCO-violation counts made "reference to whether L.M. was a witness or whether Sepulveda 'did ... or did attempt to intimidate, influence, impede, deter, obstruct, or prevent [L.M.] ... from testifying."" <u>Id</u>. The Court thus concluded that "felony intimidating a witness was not pled as a means or element of the commission of either of the attempted violations of a no contact order." <u>Id</u>. Similarly, Count II here makes no reference to Pagan-Lopez possessing the methamphetamine; it simply charges him with introducing or attempting to introduce that methamphetamine into a correctional facility. From the face of the information, not all elements of the possession charge were pled in Count II, and so under the pleading theory there was no double jeopardy violation.

Moreover, the structure of the statute affirms that "possession" and "introduction" are separate acts, intended to be charged separately. The Idaho Legislature designed I.C. § 18-2510 so that a defendant could be charged with *either* possessing contraband in a correctional facility, or attempting to introduce contraband into a correctional facility, among other things: 18-2510. POSSESSION, INTRODUCTION OR REMOVAL OF CERTAIN ARTICLES INTO OR FROM CORRECTIONAL FACILITIES.

(1) No person including a prisoner, except as authorized by law or with permission of the facility head, shall knowingly:

(a) *Introduce, or attempt to introduce,* contraband into a correctional facility or the grounds of a correctional facility; or

(b) Convey, or attempt to convey, contraband to a prisoner confined in a correctional facility; or

(c) *Possess, or attempt to possess,* contraband within a correctional facility; or

(d) Receive, obtain or remove, or attempt to receive, obtain or remove, contraband from a correctional facility.

I.C. § 18-2510 (emphasis added). The Legislature intended for possession and introduction to be punishable as two separate acts, and reductively reading them as synonyms here would thwart that purpose.⁵

From the face of the information, possession of a controlled substance is not the means or element by which Pagan-Lopez committed introduction and/or attempted introduction of major contraband. Because Pagan-Lopez cannot show that there was any violation of an unwaived constitutional right, he has failed to show fundamental error.

⁵ The state concedes that it likely would violate double jeopardy for the state to charge possession of a controlled substance along with 18-2510(c)—i.e., along with *possession* of major contraband in a correctional facility. Depending on the charging language in that hypothetical case, the face of the information would likely contain the possession charge as a lesser included charge. But because that was not how this was charged, from the face of the information, Pagan-Lopez fails to show a double jeopardy violation.

IV. <u>The Exclusion of Pagan-Lopez's Testimony About His Own Mental Health Was</u> <u>Harmless Error</u>

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Pagan-Lopez claims the district court abused its discretion when it excluded his "layperson testimony" about his mental condition. (Appellant's brief, pp.33-37.) Pagan-Lopez contends that the district court erroneously interpreted I.C. § 18-207(1) to require Pagan-Lopez to notify the state prior to presenting such evidence, and erred by excluding the evidence on that basis. (Appellant's brief, p.36.) Pagan-Lopez further claims that "the State cannot prove that this error was harmless." (Appellant's brief, p.37.)

This argument fails. While the court did err by excluding Pagan-Lopez's testimony based on I.C. 18-207(1), Pagan-Lopez ultimately went on to testify about his memory of the events at issue. The error was therefore harmless.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

This Court "applies an abuse of discretion standard" when reviewing the trial court's evidentiary rulings. <u>State v. Anderson</u>, 162 Idaho 610, 615, 402 P.3d 1063, 1068 (2017) (citing <u>Dulaney v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.</u>, 137 Idaho 160, 163-64, 45 P.3d 816, 819-20 (2002)). "To determine whether a trial court has abused its discretion, this Court considers whether it correctly perceived the issue as discretionary, whether it acted within the boundaries of its discretion and consistently with applicable legal standards, and whether it reached its decision by an exercise of reason." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Perry v. Magic</u> Valley Reg'l Med. Ctr., 134 Idaho 46, 51, 995 P.2d 816, 821 (2000).

C. <u>While Error, The Exclusion Of Pagan-Lopez's Testimony Regarding His Faulty</u> <u>Memory Was Harmless, Insofar As It Was Irrelevant To Count I, And Because</u> <u>Pagan-Lopez Went On To Testify About His Memory Regarding The Events In</u> <u>Question</u>

Pagan-Lopez testified at trial. (Tr. vol. I, pp.204-18.) Prior to doing so, his attorney notified the court that "[o]n direct, I am going to ask my client about his memory problems and his epilepsy." (Tr. vol. I, p.198, Ls.20-23.) The state objected, claiming that pursuant to I.C. § 18-207 Pagan-Lopez had not provided sufficient notice for testimony about "a medical or physical condition or psychological condition to somehow explain away a mens rea element." (Tr. vol. I, p.198, L.20 – p.199, L.22.) The district court agreed, concluding that the notice provisions in I.C. § 18-207 applied "not only [to] expert testimony":

THE COURT: 18-207 addresses, not only expert testimony, and, (4), presents it through evidence of an expert witness or permit such evidence to be placed before a jury, so it's not just limited to an expert. It's also limited to the defendant's own opinion of his medical condition, so I do believe the rule prohibits it without proper notice.

(Tr. vol. I, p.201, Ls.14-20.)

This was an error. I.C. § 18-207 provides in relevant part that:

(4) No court shall, over the objection of any party, receive *the evidence of any expert witness* on any issue of mental condition, or permit *such evidence* to be placed before a jury, unless *such evidence* is fully subject to the adversarial process in at least the following particulars:

(a) Notice must be given at least ninety (90) days in advance of trial, or such other period as justice may require, that a party intends to raise any issue of mental condition and to call expert witnesses concerning such issue, failing which such witness shall not be permitted to testify until such time as the opposing party has a complete opportunity to consider the substance of such testimony and prepare for rebuttal through such opposing expert(s) as the party may choose. I.C. § 18-207(4) (emphasis added). By its plain terms, the "such evidence" that the notice provisions apply to is a reference to expert evidence on any issue of mental condition. See id.

But the error of "excluding" this evidence—evidence of purported epilepsy and "memory problems"—was harmless. As to Count I, the state did not have to prove any particular mental state to convict Pagan-Lopez of unlawful possession. <u>See</u> I.C. § 37-2732(c). Evidence affecting Pagan-Lopez's mental state, such as evidence of memory loss, was therefore irrelevant to Count I, and any exclusion of that evidence was harmless as to the conviction on Count I.

As to Count II, Pagan-Lopez failed to show how evidence of an epileptic condition would have any bearing on his memory or knowledge of committing the crime. (See (Tr. vol. I, p.201, Ls.5-13.) Regarding the memory problems, which could have potentially been relevant, Pagan-Lopez made this quasi-offer of proof:

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